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PER CURI AM

| polito Canpos appeals from his judgnent of conviction
and sentence, based on a jury verdict finding himguilty of assault
of a law enforcenent officer, in violation of 18 U S.C A § 111
(2004) (Count 1); possession of a firearmby an illegal alien, in
violation of 18 U S.C. 8 922(g)(5)(A) (2000) (Count 2); use and
possession of a firearmin a crinme of violence, in violation of 18
US. C 8 924(c) (2000) (Count 3); attenpted nurder of a |aw
enforcenent officer, in violation of 18 U S CA § 113 (2000 &
Supp. 2004), 18 U.S.C. 8§ 114 (2000) (Count 4); use of a false
i mm gration docunent, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1546(b) (2) (2000)
(Count 5); possession of an unregistered firearm in violation of
26 U.S.C. §8 5861(d) (2002) (Count 6); and fal se representation of
a Soci al Security nunber, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 408(a) (2003)
(Count 7).

Canpos appeals five counts of his conviction and his
sentence, alleging four errors by the district court: (1) refusing
to grant his notion for judgnent of acquittal on Counts 1, 3, 4,
and 6; (2) refusing to instruct the jury on the defenses of
justification and innocent possession as to Counts 2 and 6; (3)
sentencing him on Counts 2, 4, and 6, when it applied the base
of fense |l evel for first-degree murder under USSG § 2A2.1; and (4)
sentencing him on Counts 1, 2, 4, and 6, when it applied the

enhancenent provided for in USSG § 3Al1.2(b). In accordance wth



our di scussion below, we affirm Canpos’ conviction, but vacate his

sentence and remand to the district court for resentencing.

. CONVI CTI ON
Canpos first challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to
support his conviction on the assault, attenpted nurder, and
firearmuse charges, and one of the firearmpossession charges. 1In
eval uating the sufficiency of the evidence supporting a crim nal
conviction on direct review, “the verdict of the jury nust be
sustained if there is substantial evidence, taking the view nost

favorable to the Governnent, to support it.” Gasser v. United

States, 315 U. S. 60, 80 (1942). Substantial evidence is evidence
“that a reasonable finder of fact could accept as adequate and
sufficient to support a conclusion of a defendant’s guilt beyond a

reasonabl e doubt.” United States v. Burgos, 94 F.3d 849, 862 (4th

Cr. 1996) (en banc). This court considers circunstantial and
direct evidence, and allows the Governnent the benefit of all
reasonabl e inferences fromthe facts proven to those sought to be

established. [1d. at 858; United States v. Tresvant, 677 F.2d 1018,

1021 (4th Gir. 1982).

Here, the Governnent presented evidence that supported
the jury's determ nation that Canpos knew the nen invading the
trailer were police officers, rather than robbers. First, the

police knocked before entering the trailer, and announced their
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identity and presence both before and after entering the trailer,
actions robbers would not take. Because these announcenents were
| oud enough to have been heard by agents outside the trailer, it is
reasonable for the jury to have assuned they were heard by Canpos
and his roommate. Moreover, whil e Canpos’ know edge of the English
| anguage was quite limted, the Spanish word for “police,”
“policia,” sounds simlar toits English counterpart,! and was used
by police repeatedly as they entered the trailer. These were not
just words being used by the individuals that Canpos overheard.
These were announcenents, being nade repeatedly and loudly to
announce the presence of the police. Al so, the room in which
Canpos was in was well-1it and he stood six feet away from Tr ooper
Chanbers, who was in uniform such that it is reasonable to
concl ude that Canpos had a clear view of Trooper Chanbers before
Canmpos shot him Al t hough Canpos had prior history with and
per haps a wel | -supported fear of being a victi mof anot her robbery,
t he circunstances of this case sinply do not support his claimthat
he reasonably thought that those entering the trailer that night
were robbers, rather than police officers. We conclude on the
facts of this case, construed in the light nost favorable to the

Governnent, that there was anpl e evidence for the jury to concl ude

"Whil e the Governnment contends inits brief that Canpos “spoke
clear English at one point during his testinony,” it provides no
citation for this testinony, and the record does not appear to
support this assertion.



beyond a reasonable doubt that Canpos knew those entering his
trailer were police officers, such that its verdict as to Counts 1,
3, and 4 was supported by the record, and the district court’s
deni al s of Canmpos’ Rule 29 notions for judgnent of acquittal as to
t hose charges were proper.

Canpos al so asserts insufficiency of the evidence to support
the jury’s verdict as to Count 6, which alleged a violation of 26
US C 8§ 5861(d) (possession of an unregistered firearm.
Specifically, he clains the Governnent failed in its attenpt to
prove that Canpos knew, based on the physical characteristics of
the firearm that it was illegal, i.e., that the barrel of the
shotgun he was charged with possessing was |ess than eighteen
i nches | ong.

We find Canpos’ claimto be without nerit because there
is evidence in this record, viewed in the light nost favorable to
t he Governnent, that would support the jury’s finding that Canpos
knew that his sawed-off shotgun was illegal. First, while Canpos
clainmed he had no famliarity with guns, he admtted at trial that
he had handled the shotgun in question on several occasions,
testified that he had seen the gun a nunber of times prior to the
ni ght of the incident, and referred to t he sawed-of f shotgun as the
“short one,” or the “shorter gun.” Further undercutting Canpos
cl ai mthat he knew not hi ng about guns was evidence that he fired

five rounds in approximtely ten seconds in a shot pattern show ng



that he clearly was aimng at Trooper Chanbers behind the wall,
foll owed by a direct shot hitting Trooper Chanbers when the two nen
were face-to-face. Finally, the Governnent presented evi dence t hat
Canmpos’ residence held several guns, and that police found 168
rounds of various types of ammunition in the trailer.

W find this issue essentially to be based on
credibility. While the Governnent did not present direct evidence
to establish that Canpos knewthe gun’s length, it is apparent that
the jury found unbelievabl e Canpos’ assertions that he was naive in
the matter of guns and did not know t hat the shotgun was sawed of f
and under eighteen inches in length, inlight of the other evidence
presented by the Governnent. Canmpos’ credibility is strictly a
matter for the jury and is not reviewable by this court on appeal.

United States v. Lomax, 293 F.3d 701, 705 (4th Cr. 2002). W

therefore deny this claim

Next, Canpos clains error inthe district court’s refusal
to instruct the jury on the defenses of justification and i nnocent
possession in regard to Counts 2 and 6, the two firearm possession
char ges. Canpos first asserts that the jury should have been
instructed on the defense of “justified possession,” or
justification defense because he “reasonably believed” that he was
under unlawful and present threat of death or serious bodily
injury. To establish a justification defense, the defendant nust

show that: (1) he was under unlawful and present threat of death
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or serious bodily injury; (2) he did not recklessly place hinself
in a situation where he could be forced to engage in crimna
conduct; (3) he had no reasonable |legal alternative (to both the
crimnal act and the avoidance of the threatened harm; and (4)
there was a direct causal relationship between the crimnal action

and t he avoi dance of the threatened harm United States v. Perrin,

45 F.3d 869, 873-74 (4th Cr. 1995).

We decline Canpos’ suggestion to extend the availability
of the justification defense to cases where the defendant
“reasonably believes” he is under an “unl awmful and present threat.”
The facts denonstrate that Canpos was not under any actual present
or immnent threat of death or injury. Law enforcenent officers
were there to serve lawful warrants on him which they could have
done peaceably had he opened the door when they knocked and
announced their identity and purpose.

Canpos al so asserts that the district court erred in
refusing to give his requested instruction on innocent possession
with regard to Counts 2 and 6. The innocent possession defense
requires that the firearm be obtained innocently and held with no
illicit purpose, and that possession of the firearmbe transitory,
that is, that “in light of the circunstances presented, there is a
good basis to find that the defendant took adequate neasures torid
hi msel f of possession of the firearm as pronptly as reasonably

possible.” United States v. Mson, 233 F.3d 619, 624 (D.C. GCr.




2000). Here, Canpos cl ained he found the gun on February 3, 2003,
removed it fromthe back yard where he found it, and stored it in
the oven in an effort to keep children playing around the trailer
fromfinding it. However, unlike the defendant in Mason, Canpos
denonstrated no intent to turn the gun over to lawful authorities.
He t ook no steps and exerted no effort to relinqui sh possession of
the gun. In addition, Canpos’ own witness testified that Canpos
had handled the illegal gun on various occasions prior to the
incident, contradicting Canpos’ testinony that he had only
di scovered the gun on February 3, 2003. He conceal ed the gun,
still | oaded, together with additional anmunition, in the oven of
his trailer, where it was easily accessible to him and where he
readily renoved it and used it against the agents entering the
trailer. W find that the trial judge properly rejected Canpos’

request for the instruction on innocent possession.

1. SENTENCE
In determ ning the applicabl e sentencing range under the
Sent enci ng Qui del i nes,? the probation officer applied USSG § 2A2.1
to Count 4, the attenpted murder charge, and through the cross-
reference in USSG § 2K2.1, the firearns guideline, also applied
§ 2A2.1 to Counts 2 and 6, the firearmpossession charges. Section

2A2.1 contains two base offense levels, 28 and 22, depending on

2U.S. Sentencing Guidelines Manual (2002) (“USSG).

- 8 -



whet her the attenpted nurder, if conpl eted, woul d have constituted
first-degree or second-degree nurder. The probation officer
cal cul ated the base offense |level for Canmpos at 28. |In addition,
the probation officer assessed a three-|evel enhancenent pursuant
to USSG 8§ 3A1.2 to Counts 1, 2, 4, and 6, the assault, attenpted
murder, and firearns possession charges, on the basis that the
of fenses invol ved an official victim The district court overrul ed
Canpos’ objections, applied the higher base offense | evel as well
as the three-point enhancenent, and ultinately sentenced Canpos by
appl ying the guidelines as a mandatory determ nant in sentencing.
In so doing, the district court sentenced Canpos based on
judicially-determned facts found by a preponderance of the
evi dence, rather than facts found by the jury beyond a reasonabl e
doubt . 3

The district court sentenced Canpos to 151 nonths’
i mprisonment on the assault and attenpted nurder counts, 120
mont hs’ i nprisonnment on the two firearm possession counts, and 60
nmont hs on the two fal se docunent counts, all to run concurrently.
The district court also inposed the mandatory m ni num sentence of
120 nonths’ inprisonnment on Count 3, the use of a firearmin a
crinme of violence, to run consecutively to the other counts. Thus,

the total term of inprisonnent to which the district court

W note that the district court sentenced Canpos fully in
accordance with the law and procedure in effect at the tinme of
Canmpos’ sent enci ng.



sentenced Canpos was 271 nonths. The district court also inposed
five years of supervised release, special assessnments totaling
$700, and restitution in the anbunt of $14,735.61.

On appeal, Canpos contends that the application of the
hi gher base offense |level and the three-point enhancenent, which
i ncreased substantially his range of inprisonnment under the
gui delines, constitutes plain error under the Suprene Court’s

decisions in Blakely v. Washington, 124 S. C. 2531 (2004), United

States v. Booker, 125 S. C. 738 (2005), and this court’s original

decision in United States v. Hughes, 396 F.3d 374 (4th Cr. 2005),*

because it was based upon facts not found by the jury beyond a
reasonabl e doubt .

I n Booker, the Suprene Court applied the Bl akely deci sion
to the federal sentencing guidelines and concluded that the Sixth
Amendnent is violated when a district court inposes a sentence
under the Sentencing Guidelines that is greater than a sentence
based solely upon facts found by the jury. Booker, 125 S. C. at
752- 56. The Court renedied the constitutional violation by
severing two statutory provisions, 18 U S. C. 8§ 3553(b)(1) (West
Supp. 2004) (requiring sentencing court to i npose a sentence within
the applicable guideline range), and 18 U S.C. A 8 3742(e) (West

2000 & Supp. 2004) (setting forth appell ate standards of reviewfor

4Canpos’ suppl enental brief was filed with this court prior to
t he i ssuance of our anended opinion, United States v. Hughes, 401
F.3d 540 (4th Cr. 2005).
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gui del i ne i ssues), thereby making the guidelines advisory. United

States v. Hughes, 401 F. 3d 540, 546 (4th G r. 2005) (citing Booker,

125 S. . at 756-57, 764 (Breyer, J., opinion of the Court)).

After Booker, courts nust calculate the appropriate
gui deline range, consider the range in conjunction with other
rel evant factors under the guidelines and 18 U S.C. A 8§ 3553(a),
and i npose a sentence. |If a court inposes a sentence outside the
guideline range, the district court nust state its reasons for
doing so. Hughes, 401 F.3d at 546. This renedial schene applies
to any sentence i nposed under the nmandatory sentenci ng gui del i nes,
regardl ess of whether or not the sentence violates the Sixth
Amendnent. 1d. at 547 (citing Booker, 125 S. C. at 769 (Breyer,
J., opinion of the Court)).

In this case, as in Hughes, the district court sentenced
Canpos by applying the guidelines as a mandatory determ nant in
sentencing and based upon facts not authorized by the jury’s
findings. In light of the change in the |l aw, we concl ude that the
district court erred in determ ning Canpos’ sentence, that the
error was plain and affected Canpos’ substantial rights, and that
we should exercise our discretion to notice the error. W
therefore vacate Canpos’ sentence and remand for resentencing
However, as we did in Hughes, we address the propriety of the
district court’s application of the guidelines, which, of course,

are now advi sory.



W first address Canpos’ assertion of error in the
district court’s determ nation that the appropriate base offense
| evel under the attenpted nurder guideline was 28 rather than 22,
and his claim that the |ower base offense |evel should apply
because his shooting of Trooper Chanbers was not done wth
prenedi tation and deliberation. W review the district court’s
factual findings at sentencing for clear error, and its

interpretation of a sentencing guideline de novo. United States v.

Daughtrey, 874 F.2d 213, 217 (4th Cr. 1989).

Canpos relies heavily on the fact that the events | eadi ng
up to the shooting occurred very quickly, noting the period of tine
from Chanbers’ entry through the front door until he retreated
after being shot by Canpos |lasted only about ten seconds. He
asserts that his actions were consistent with those of a frightened
and inmpul sive man, not of a calculating and deliberate crimna
m nd.

We find no clear error by the district court in finding
that Canpos acted with preneditation and deliberation in shooting
Trooper Chanbers. Instead of opening his door to the police, who

were knocking and announcing their presence,® Canpos used what

*Interestingly, Canpos does not claimthat he did not hear the
police knock or give their announcenment. Rather, he asserts that
he did not conprehend it because he had only a limted ability to
under stand Engl i sh.
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little tine he had® to go to the kitchen and retrieve the |oaded
sawed- of f shotgun fromthe oven, despite the know edge that there
was al ready another rifle in the room Canpos’ actions in |eaving
the room he was in and retrieving the shotgun, together with the
fact that the evidence reveal ed unquestionably that he fired four
shots into a confined area where the troopers were located, in a
hi gh pattern, and ainmed toward the upper body and head, and fired
afifth shot directly at unifornmed Trooper Chanbers froma di stance
of approximately six feet, inawell-lit room support the district
court’s conclusion that those shots were nade deliberately and with
the intent to kill.

Canpos further asserts that the district court erred when
it enhanced his offense level by three levels pursuant to USSG
§ 3A1.2, on the basis that the offenses involved an official
victim The district court’s factual findings in applying USSG

8 3A1.2 are reviewed for clear error. United States v. Zuragoza-

Fer nandez, 217 F.3d 31, 32-33 (1st G r. 2000). The district court
overrul ed Canpos’ objection and applied the three-point “official
victinft enhancenent based on its factual finding that Canpos

understood that the nen entering his trailer were police and

®We previously have held that no particular period of tinme is
essential to a finding of preneditation and deliberation. Faust v.
North Carolina, 307 F.2d 869, 871 (4th GCr. 1962).
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nonet hel ess fired at them’ W find no clear error in the district
court’s concl usion that Canpos had reasonabl e cause to bel i eve t hat
Trooper Chanbers and the others were |law enforcenent officers

based upon the uncontested facts that the agents arrived at the
trailer in multiple cars, knocked | oudly on the door, and entered
whi | e announci ng repeatedly that they were police officers thereto
serve a search warrant.

W find to be without nerit Canpos’ specific contention
that the district court erred in applying subsection (b) of USSG
8§ 3Al. 2 to Canpos’ assault and attenpted nurder convictions (Counts
1 and 4), because Canpos wounded Trooper Chanbers during the course

of the offense, see, e.qg., United States v. Farrow, 198 F.3d 179,

198 (6th Gr. 1999), and to the firearns convictions (Counts 2 and
6) because Canpos used a firearmwhen he assaul t ed Trooper Chanbers
in a manner creating a substantial risk of serious bodily injury.

United States v. Braxton, 903 F.2d 292, 299 (4th G r. 1990), rev'd

on other grounds, 500 U.S. 344 (1991).

I11. CONCLUSI ON
Accordingly, although we affirm Canpos’ conviction, we
vacate his sentence and remand to the district court for

resentencing in accordance with Booker and Hughes. W di spense

"While the district court did not specify on which subsection
of USSG § 3Al.2 the enhancenent was based, the facts support
application of subsection (b), rather than (a).
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with oral argunent because the facts and |egal contentions are
adequately presented in the materials before the court and ar gunent

woul d not aid the decisional process.

AFFI RVED | N PART,
VACATED | N PART,
AND RENMANDED




